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DECISION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ELEANOR LAWS, Administrative Law Judge. This case was tried in Portland, Oregon, on
August 27, 2012. The American Postal Workers Union (Union or Charging Party) filed the
charge on October 24, 2012, and served it on the Respondent by regular mail on or about
October 26, 2012. The General Counsel issued the complaint on January 28, 2013. The United
States Postal Service (Respondent or Postal Service) filed a timely answer denying all material
complaint allegations.
On the entire record, including my observation of the demeanor of the witnesses, and
after considering the briefs filed by the General Counsel and the Respondent, I make the
following
FINDINGS OF FACT
I. JURISDICTION

The Postal Service provides postal services for the United States and operates various
facilities throughout the United States, including a facility at 715 NW Hoyt Street in Portland,
Oregon. The Postal Service admits, and I find, that the National Labor Relations Board (the
Board) has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Section 1209 of the Postal Reorganization
Act of 1970, 39 U.S.C. 1201 et seq., and that the Union is a labor organization within the
meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.
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II. ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES
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The complaint alleges that the United States Postal Service (Postal Service or
Respondent) violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of the of the National Labor Relations Act (the Act)
when it issued a written letter of warning to the employee and union shop steward. The
complaint further alleges that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act when a
supervisor filed for and obtained in State court a stalking protective order against an employee
who also worked for the Union as a shop steward and director of City Stations.
A. Background
The Postal Service operates 25 postal facilities in Portland, Oregon. At all relevant times,
Shawneen Betha has been Portland’s Postmaster.
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Cheryl Walton has worked for the Postal Service since 2005. At the time of the hearing,
she was a lead sales service associate at the Respondent’s Midway Station, with a regular
schedule from 10 a.m. to 7 p.m. Her first-line supervisor was Linda Soga, supervisor of
customer service. Her second-line supervisor was Jeff White, manager of customer service for
the following five Portland facilities: Midway, Central, Main Office Finance (Main Office),
Airport Mail Facility, and Collections. White is not the immediate supervisor of any of the
union-represented clerks.
Walton serves as the Union’s director of City Stations, a position she has held since 2007
or 2008. In this capacity her supervisors are Brian Dunsmore, president of the Union’s Portland
chapter and Joe Cogan, vice president. Walton’s position with the Union is paid, and it entails
monitoring Portland’s 25 city stations. Her duties include filing and adjusting grievances,
conducting investigations on the Union’s behalf, and meeting with members. To fulfill these
duties, she visits all 25 city stations. During the time period at issue, Walton was the steward of
record for the main office, among other facilities. Daniel Cortez, another shop steward, was the
steward of record at the Oak Grove post office as well as some other facilities.
Walton has a hearing impairment that at times causes a high pitching sound in her left
ear. When this occurs, she talks over herself to try to hear if she is speaking loudly enough.
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The current collective-bargaining agreement (CBA) between the Respondent and the
Union runs from November 21, 2010, through May 20, 2015. Article 15 is the grievance and
arbitration procedure, which contains multiple steps. Either the aggrieved employee or the
Union may initiate a step1 grievance. If the employee initiates the grievance, there is a step 1
meeting involving the employee and his or her immediate supervisor. Representation is
addressed in article 17. Section 3 states:
When it is necessary for a steward to leave his/her work area to investigate and adjust
grievances or to investigate a specific problem to determine whether to file a grievance,
the steward shall request permission from the immediate supervisor and such request
shall not be unreasonably denied.
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In the event the duties require the steward leave the work area and enter another area
within the installation or post office, the steward must also receive permission from the
supervisor from the other area he/she wishes to enter and such request shall not be
unreasonably denied.
5

(Jt. Exh. 1.)1
B. Babb and Walton Interactions
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Gina Babb is a supervisor at the Respondent’s main office. She reports directly to White.
Babb and Walton have had many meetings over grievances. Walton is known to use foul
language, and in particular the word “fuck” and its grammatical variants. Babb is offended by
this and has notified Walton that she will end meetings if Walton starts swearing profusely.
According to Walton, Babb often refuses to meet with her at step 1. When this occurs, Walton
advances the grievance to step 2 and files a grievance over Babb’s refusal to meet at step 1.
On August 9, 2012, Walton met with Babb in the supervisors’ lounge at the main office
to discuss eight grievances. The fourth grievance involved a Selena Smith, a clerk with low
seniority who had been denied time off she had requested for an upcoming holiday weekend.
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According to Walton’s testimony, when discussing Smith’s grievance, Babb became
upset and proceeded to say, repeatedly, “So, is it this way or that way?” Walton did not know
what Babb meant. After not receiving a response to the grievance, Walton said, “I can be a bitch
or I can be nice, you know . . . which way would you like it?” Babb responded, “This way or
that way, which way do you want it?” Walton said, “Okay, is this your decision?” Babb
repeated herself and Walton said, “Okay, that’s your decision” and proceeded to write it down.
Walton moved on to the next grievance from lead sales service associate Marilyn Telfor, which
asserted Babb was working as a lead sales associate in violation of the rules. Babb started
fidgeting in her chair and stated, “I can’t believe this” and told Walton she had nothing to
support the grievance. When Walton disagreed, Babb began swaying in her chair and denied the
grievance. When asked for a reason Babb said, “Because I said so.”
Babb then stood up, leaned across the table pointing at Walton and said, “Cheryl, you’re
a fucking bitch.” Walton responded, “Now, now, Gina, we shouldn’t be talking that way.” Babb
went around and stood at the edge of the table toward where Walton was sitting. She ranted
about the step 1 procedure and how Walton was always swearing, and said she was going to
leave. She then leaned in toward Walton, who was sitting and doing paperwork. Walton moved
off to the side and said, “Okay, just go then. If you’re leaving, just go.” Babb continued and
Walton said, “I’m not going to take your fucking bullying or intimidating me. It’s just not going
to happen. If you’re going to go, just go.” Babb responded, “That’s it, you’re threatening me”
and screamed at Walton to leave. Babb was standing at the exit door and Walton testified she
1

Abbreviations used in this decision are as follows: “Tr.” for transcript; “Jt. Exh.” for joint exhibit;
“R. Exh.” for Respondent’s exhibit; “GC Exh.” for General Counsel’s exhibit; “GC Br.” for the General
Counsel’s brief; and “R. Br. for the Respondents’ brief. Although I have included several citations to the
record to highlight particular testimony or exhibits, I emphasize that my findings and conclusions are
based not solely on the evidence specifically cited, but rather are based my review and consideration of
the entire record.
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continued to stand right where she was. When prompted, Walton said she was actually sitting,
because Dunsmore had told her that there were times she may come across as aggressive because
she is vocal, so she should keep seated. After Babb left, Walton grabbed her belongings and left.
Walton proceeded to try to enter the secure main office finance area. Babb screamed to clerk
Dayna Jones not to open the door and screamed at Walton to leave. Walton went out through the
lobby area to clock out. As she was leaving, Babb and a male were right behind her. When they
got to a swinging door, which is waist high, Walton said “excuse me” so the man backed up and
she “just shut the door and went out the other door and went up and clocked out.” She went to
the Union hall and saw Dunsmore, who told her to write up what had occurred. (Tr. 22–27.)
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Walton wrote a statement roughly 15 minutes after she left the main office. (GC Exh. 2.)
According to the statement, when discussing Smith’s grievance, Babb kept repeating, “One or
the other Cheryl one or the other. What is your problem? You can’t have it both ways.” Walton
responded, “Gina, now if you want me to be an ass continue with your sarcasm and I will be an
ass. So you decide how do you want this meeting to go? Me to be nice and to the point or a
bitch, you decide.” Babb repeated, “One or the other,” and when Walton asked for a decision
and reason, Babb said, “How can I give a decision if you can’t even figure out whether you want
it one way or the other?” Walton then moved to Telfor’s grievance which involved being denied
her lead clerk (T-7) duties. Babb, very upset, stated, “Are you kidding? What T-7 duties am I
denying her?” Walton responded that Babb was denying her all T-7 duties and just keeping her
at the window. Babb raised her voice and said T-7s stay at the window. When Walton tried to
explain this was not true, Babb interrupted her, began yelling, shook her head, sat back and forth
in her chair, and said the grievance was denied. When asked for the reason, Babb said, “Because
I said so.” Walton asked if this was really her reason, and Babb replied that Walton could not
provide any T-7 duties Telfor was not performing. Walton’s notes are then a little unclear, but
denote Walton saying, “Well I believe I did but you denied the grievance because (I looked at
my notes) ‘I said so’ it appears you are not allowing her to work as a T-7 by you yelling at me
with you answer then.”
Babb then leaned forward in her chair and said in a low tone, “Cheryl, you are a fucking
bitch.” Walton responded, “Now, now Gina that is uncalled for and I will not accept that.” Babb
then stood up and said, “You file these grievances that aren’t grievances.” Walton replied, “Gina
if you are done meeting then go, but I will not continue for you to yell at me, because I can yell
louder.” Babb said she was leaving, and Walton said she would send the remaining grievances
up without a step 1. Babb walked to the edge of the table, within an arms’ length, but because
Babb had grabbed Walton before, Walton did not look at her. She was writing down what Babb
stated. Babb then said, “You feel like you can file anything you want and say anything you
want.” Walton interrupted and told Babb to leave. Babb stated she did not have to and
commented on Walton’s swearing. Walton cut in, saying that Babb was the one who had called
her a “fucking bitch.” Babb replied that nobody would believe Walton because she has a
problem. Walton, still sitting, looked at Babb and with her voice a little raised, stated, “Okay,
Gina I am not going to be fucking berated by you any longer, Your [sic] mad, fine I really don’t
fucking care. But I will not continue with this bull shit of you standing there and venting, go
fucking vent to someone else. I will continue to file fucking grievances because you
continuously work in our craft[.] [W]hy? Because I am not scared or immediate [sic] by you
one bit.” Babb told Walton she could not swear at her, and Walton told Babb, “Gina understand
English at no time did I swear at you, I used swear words in my sentences. Now on the other
hand you swore at me (I pointed at myself), remember. Oh that’s right you lie. I almost forgot.”
4
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Babb again told Walton she could not swear and Walton responded, “Oh I can swear and there
will be times I will swear, get over it.” At that point Babb said Walton was threatening her, and
told her to leave the facility immediately. Babb moved a little toward Walton, who said, “Gina,
don’t you touch me.” Babb then screamed at Walton to leave immediately, so when Babb left
the room, Walton gathered her things and left.2
Babb’s account of what happened at the meeting differs from the discussion of Smith’s
grievance forward. By way of background, Babb testified that the clerks were going to be
required to rebid their jobs. When discussing Smith’s grievance, Babb asked Walton which job
title the grievance denial should reflect: Smith’s current position or the position she would be in
at the time of the requested leave, assuming she would still be employed following the rebidding
process. Walton initially wanted it to be based on Smith’s then-current position. Babb explained
to Walton that she had spoken to someone from the Respondent’s labor department and Cogan
from the Union, and they agreed it was against the contract to grant the leave based on her
current position. Walton then said that Babb should grant the leave based on Smith’s new job,
noting that she may not even have a job. Babb responded that she could not grant the leave
request based on a future job she may or may not obtain through the rebidding process. Walton
continued to argue both sides, and Babb reiterated that she couldn’t settle the grievance either
way and asked her which way she wanted the denial to reflect. Walton told her she was being an
ass. Babb again asked her how she wanted to argue the grievance, again stating she could not
settle it either way. Walton then got very angry and proceeded to “pepper her language with
profanity.” Babb got up, told Walton the meeting was over, and walked toward the door. As she
was passing by where Walton was sitting, Walton stood up, tipped back her chair, stepped
toward Babb while shaking her finger at her, and said, “I can say anything I want. I can swear if
I want. I can do anything I want.” When Babb refuted this, Walton took another step toward her
and Babb became fearful Walton was going to hit her. Babb started backing toward the door,
and Walton continued to scream that she could say and do whatever she wanted and Babb could
not stop her. Babb had seen Walton become angry many times, but she was perceived something
different this time and was scared. Shaking and in tears, Babb went to get Supervisor Duncan
Santoro and told him he needed help removing from the facility a shop steward who had gotten
violent. She saw that Walton was trying to gain entrance to the secure main office finance area
and said, “No Cheryl, you’re not going into my unit. You’re not allowed in my unit.” She
instructed Jones not to let Walton in. Walton proceeded to leave the area with Santoro and Babb
following her. She opened a swinging door and when Santoro tried to walk through it, she
slammed it on him. At that point, Walton was in the lobby, so she and Santoro let her go. (Tr.
78–89.)
In Babb’s statement, dictated later the same day to Trish Adams, manager of customer
service operations, she described asking Walton how she wanted to argue the Smith’s grievance
because Walton wanted to argue both current and future schedules. Walton got frustrated and, in
a raised voice said Babb was “being an ass.” Babb again asked which one Walton wanted to
argue, and Cheryl started swearing, saying “fuck” several times. Babb told Walton the meeting
was over and while she was walking away, Walton stood up in an aggressive manner, tipping her
chair back, and screamed, “I can say anything I want, I can swear if I want, do anything I want.”
When Babb told her she could not, Walton approached her, shaking her hand aggressively,
2

The statement also recites what occurred after the meeting, which essentially mirrors Walton’s
testimony.
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pointing and screaming, “I can say anything I want, I can swear if I want, do anything I want,
you can’t stop me.” Walton was in an arms’ length reach of Babb, who perceived a “crazy, out
of control look in her eyes.” Babb said she was removing Walton from the facility, and Walton
took a step toward her and said Babb could not make her leave. Babb responded that Walton
was being violent and she had to leave the facility. Babb went to get Santoro to assist her, and
she then saw Walton trying to gain access to the secure main office finance area. Babb
instructed Jones not to let Walton in and again told Walton to leave. Santoro and Babb followed
Walton as she exited the building. When Santoro tried to follow Walton through a swinging
door, she shut it directly in front of him. (Jt. Exh. 6.)

10
C. Postal Service’s Response to Babb “Making the Call”
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When an employee feels threatened at the Postal Service, they are to report it
immediately. This is referred to as “making the call,” and when it occurs the incident is referred
directly to the district manager. Babb, who was upset and shaking, called White “in a pure
panic, in a frantic mode” and told him she was “making the call.” (Tr. 90, 143.) White came to
the main office and they went to see Kim Anderson, the district manager. She was out of the
office, so they explained what occurred to Mike Norbom, the acting human resources manager.
Norbom went down to the workroom floor to interview potential witnesses. Babb dictated her
statement to Adams. Walton was eating lunch in the cafeteria on the fourth floor with Cortez, so
Babb was told to stay on the third floor, which is secure. Eventually, White walked Babb to her
car and she went home.
A threat assessment team, which included Babb, met and determined that Walton was in
a protected status during the events at issue. The team concluded that Walton and Babb would
have a cooling off period and would not meet for awhile. In the interim, Walton was to meet
with White rather than Babb about grievances at step 1. White conveyed this to Walton on or
about August 11. (GC Exh. 12; Tr. 147.)
On August 17, White gave Walton an official discussion and told her she was not
permitted to work on grievances outside of her regular work schedule, which was 10 a.m. to
7 p.m. She was to clock in and then White would authorize any steward time. Babb viewed this
as a change because she had previously requested steward time on a weekly basis from her
immediate supervisor. (Tr. 29–30.) Babb’s normal practice was to meet with union stewards
while they were on the clock. (Tr. 106.)
D. Events Culminating in Letter of Warning and Stalking Order
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Walton continued to contact Babb and show up at the Main Office outside her scheduled
work hours. Walton sometimes just sat on the bench in the lobby, which is a public area. This
caused Babb to become afraid.
On Saturday, September 8, Walton called Babb to work on some step 1 grievances. She
had not received permission from her home office, Midway, to visit the main office. (Jt. Exh.
12, p. 6.) By Walton’s account, Babb told Walton she would not meet with her. Walton then
went and knocked lightly on the back security door. She claimed she would not have pounded
because she has degenerative joint disease and it would have hurt. She also said she did not yell
any comments through the door. Walton then called the Main Office phone number repeatedly,
6
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stating that her purpose was to get a steward for Bob Mullin, the Main Office window clerk, and
to file a step 1 grievance over Babb denying Mullin a steward.3 When she called, Babb hung up
on her. (Tr. 33–35.) Walton told Mullin to ring the buzzer to get Babb, who appeared at the
door and she said she did not need to talk to Walton because she was not on the clock. When
Mullin rang the buzzer again, Babb did not come out. Mullin then went back and spoke with
Babb, and reported to Walton that Babb would not be coming out. Walton called Babb
repeatedly because Babb kept hanging up on her before she could speak. Finally, she called
Walton’s personal cell phone. She did not testify about what she said, but stated she did not
laugh. (Tr. 48–50.)
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Shortly after the incidents, Babb made notes of what occurred. She recalled Walton
calling and asking to meet with her at 12:30. When Babb told Walton that White was the
designee for step 1 meetings, Walton repeatedly called Babb, using profanity, including calling
Babb a “fucking idiot,” and telling her she had better come out and see her. Mullin came back
and told Babb Walton wanted to speak to her, and said he didn’t think she was going away.
Walton continued to call, requesting a steward for Mullin. Babb checked with Mullin, who
denied he requested a steward. When Walton’s calls went unanswered, she banged on the back
door and pressed the buzzer. Walton then called Babb’s personal cell phone. According to
Babb, Walton laughed and said, “Well, since you gave your personal cell phone out to the city,
I thought I'd use it.” Babb told Walton not to call her personal cell phone and then hung up. (Jt.
Exh. 6; Tr. 108.) Between 12:33 and 1:19 p.m., Walton placed at least 13 calls to Babb.4 Babb,
who was scared, reported what happened to White. White talked to clerk Rachel Kelley-Yancey,
who confirmed that Walton was pounding on the door. (Tr. 146.)
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At Babb’s request, Mullin walked her to her car after work. Mullin had not asked to talk
to a steward that day. Instead, he wanted to talk to Walton briefly to ask when the union picket
was. (Tr. 172.) Mullin recalled that one Saturday, Walton “hung around for quite a while in the
front office” observing what was going on. (Tr. 169.)
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At 4:22 p.m. on September 8, Babb sent an email to District Manager Kim Anderson.5
She recounted the events of August 9, when she “made the call” and stated that Walton
continued to demand to meet on step 1 grievances. Babb also noted that Walton watched her in
the main office before work and has followed her. She expressed her belief that Walton was
fixated on her and stalking her. Babb conveyed the events from earlier in the day, and said that
after these incidents she was shaking, having heart palpitations, and was afraid to go in the lobby
or out in the plant. She noted that she has been suffering for weeks from sleeplessness,
nightmares, migraines, digestive problems, and migraines. Babb expressed that she felt
threatened and opined that Walton should not be considered in a protected status on her days off
from work. She expressed her belief that Walton was deliberately and maliciously threatening
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The General Counsel asserts that Walton learned through the phone calls on September 8 that White
was the step 1 designee. (R. Br. 10.) This is inconsistent with Walton’s testimony.
4
For some of the times Babb references, Walton called two separate phones. The 13 calls are
reflected in Babb’s log. On the printout of the phone records, 17 calls are flagged, but it is not clear
whether the four calls not reflected in Babb’s log were from Walton.
5
Various people were copied, including Postmaster Betha, Adams, Norbrom, White, and other
individuals not identified at the hearing. (GC Exh. 6.)
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and intimidating her. Babb said she was terrified to come to work on Saturdays, stating she
could not continue to perform her duties. She concluded with a plea for help. (GC Exh. 4.)
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Anderson responded the morning of September 10, stating that she agreed Walton’s
behavior was unacceptable. She informed Babb that action was being taken, including a meeting
that day. (GC Exh. 4.)
White met with Walton on September 10, told her not to have any contact with Babb, and
reminded her that he was the step 1 designee for the main office. (Jt. Exh. 2; Tr. 147.) Walton
recalled this was the first time she was instructed that White was the step 1 designee. Walton
was also instructed not to go to the main office without permission from White or Anthony
Spina-Denson, manager of customer service.6 (Jt. Exh. 2; Tr. 32–37.) According to Walton,
prior to this, she had called Babb to set up times for grievance meetings. Walton also recalled
White told her she needed to be on the clock to schedule step 1 meetings and file step 1
grievances. At the time, she had performing these tasks while both on and off the clock because
of scheduling issues. (Tr. 37.)
The morning of September 11, Walton was at the main office prior to her shift. She
stood outside the window watching Babb set up the lobby prior to the clerks’ arrival at work.
Walton testified she was working in her capacity as director of City Stations investigating to see
if Babb was working in the clerk craft. Babb, who had gone in early to catch up after the events
of the previous Saturday, saw Walton, who appeared to be looking at her and laughing. She
“freaked out,” and ran into Supervisor Justin Lowe’s office, crying and shaking. (Tr. 111.) She
did not approach Walton to inquire about why she was there. Babb called White, wrote a
statement, and then tried to drive home. (Jt. Exh. 6.) Unable to drive, she went to her parents’
house, and her husband picked her up and took her to the doctor. Babb took leave and proceeded
to make calls to figure out what she could do.
Walton received a letter of warning (LOW) on September 27, 2012, charging her with
misconduct. (Jt. Exh. 2.) The letter referenced the August 9 grievance meeting that allegedly
ended with her yelling and cursing. It further stated that although Walton had been instructed to
meet with White for grievances involving the main office, she attempted to contact Babb to set
up step 1 meetings on September 8. The LOW recounted that when Babb told her to contact
White, Walton pounded on the back security door, rang the buzzer for an extended time, yelled
comments directed at Babb through the door, and repeatedly called Babb. Next, the LOW
referenced Walton’s discussions with White on September 10, when she was again instructed
that White was the step 1 designee for the main office, and Walton was not to go there without
permission from White or Spina-Denson. The LOW further noted Walton’s repeated visits to the
main office, and said she was uncooperative when questioned in interviews. Finally, the LOW
cited to various provisions of the Respondent’s employee and labor relations manual (ELM)
allegedly violated, and offered to assist Walton with any problems she might be experiencing.
Walton filed a grievance and the LOW was ultimately expunged. (GC Exhs. 3, 16.)

6

Walton had two equal employment opportunity (EEO) complaints against Spina-Denson.
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On October 9, while on her own time, Babb filed a petition for a temporary protective
stalking order (stalking order) against Walton in Clackamas County Circuit Court.7 All of the
incidents listed in support of the petition occurred at the Main Office while Babb was working.
(Jt. Exh. 5.) Circuit Court Judge Jeffrey S. Jones granted the stalking order on October 10. (Jt.
Exh. 3.) The stalking order restrained Walton from “harassing, stalking, or threatening” Babb or
engaging in conduct that would place her in reasonable fear of bodily injury. It further
prohibited the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical force against Babb or her
children. Babb was also ordered to stop and avoid all contact with Walton, defined as:

10

A. Coming into the visual or physical presence of the other person;
B. Following the other person;
C. Waiting outside the home, property, place of work or school of the other person or of
a member of that person’s immediate family or household and being at the following
places: [left blank];
D. Sending or making written or electronic communications in any form to the other
person;
E. Speaking with the other person by any means;
F. Communicating with the other person, including through a third person;
G. Committing a crime against the other person;
H. Communicating with a third person who has some relationship to the other person
with the intent of affecting the third person’s relationship with the other person;
I. Communicating with business entities with the intent of affecting some right or
interest of the other person;
J. Damaging the other person’s home, property, place of work, or school; or
K. Delivering directly or through a third person any object to the home, property, place of
work or school of the other person.
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(Jt. Exh. 3.) Babb notified the Postal Service that she had obtained the stalking order and
remained away from work while Walton worked on an arbitration at the Main Office. When
Babb returned to work she instructed employees to contact her if they saw Walton in the main
office.
On Saturday, October 13, 2012, Walton visited the main office to mail a personal item.
Babb, representing herself as a Postal Service supervisor, called the police to alert them that
Walton was in violation of the stalking order. Walton was served with a temporary protective
stalking order later that same day while at the union hall. She understood it as precluding her
from going to the Main Office and prevented her from working on grievances with White or
others. (Tr. 56–57.) Walton was ordered to appear in Clackamas County court on October 30.
(Jt. Exh. 4.)

40
On October 15, while at work, Walton was approached by two Portland police officers
who stated they were there to arrest her for violating the stalking order on October 13. When the
officers learned that Walton had not received the stalking order until the evening of October 13,
they did not arrest her.
45
7

The Main Office is in Multnomah County but Babb was told to file it in Clackamas County where
she resides.
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On October 23, the Respondent settled eight grievances filed on Walton’s behalf for
denial of steward time and denial of union hall access in September and October. The step 1
decisionmakers for the grievances were Soga, White, and Chris Cornejo. Under the agreement,
Walton was paid $900. The agreement provided that permission to enter Postal Service facilities
was still required in accordance with article 17 of the CBA. Walton was to communicate on a
daily basis with her supervisor with regard to steward activities, times, and locations.8 (GC Exh.
7.)
Walton appeared in court on October 30 with Adam Arms, an attorney the Union hired
for her. Babb was also present. On January 31, 2013, Arms filed a motion to dismiss the
stalking order, based in part on an argument that it was preempted by the Act. (Jt. Exh. 10.)
Babb, pro se, opposed the motion to dismiss on February 5. (Jt. Exh. 11.) The judge denied the
motion. At some point, Arms went to talk to Babb about settling the stalking order matter. Babb
told Arms that because she was unrepresented, she wanted to have someone accompany her, and
asked if Kimberly Kelly, a labor relations specialist for the Postal Service, could join them. The
three of them met, and Kelly proposed a global settlement of all outstanding matters. Kelly
forwarded a settlement offer to Arms on March 19, 2013. (GC Exh. 5.) The parties ultimately
reached a settlement, and the stalking order was lifted on March 22, 2013. (Jt. Exhs. 14–16.)
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E. Other Employees’ Interactions with Walton
Kathy Cooper is a lead clerk who, at the time of the hearing, was in an acting supervisor
position. In late December 2012, she and Walton were both working as lead clerks at the
Respondent’s airport facility. Walton yelled at her while she was explaining something to a
customer. Cooper asked her to please say anything she felt she needed to say to her in the back
office. Walton replied, yelling, “I will say anything I want to you.” (Tr. 160.) Cooper walked
away and tried to call a supervisor. She eventually reached the Postmaster, and while they were
still on the phone, Walton came around the corner, yelling at Cooper and using profanity. The
postmaster sent Spina-Denson to the facility. He and Walton had words, and then Walton went
home.
When Cooper worked as an acting supervisor at the main facility, she and Walton
sometimes interacted for step 1 grievances. Cooper observed Walton tended to scream and yell
and cuss. On one occasion, Cooper cut their meeting short because Walton would not settle
down. Cooper went back to work at her computer, and Walton came behind her yelling and
screaming. Some people from labor relations on the floor above them came down because they
were concerned that the situation might be unsafe. Cooper has also heard Babb ask Walton to
stop cussing and yelling, and Walton responding with a litany of profanity.
Mullin has heard Walton yell and curse to the point where his customers could hear her,
causing him embarrassment. (Tr. 173–174.)
At the Oak Grove post office, Lyudmila Basarab is an acting supervisor and Julie
Pimental is the manager. On one occasion in the fall of 2012, Pimental had scheduled an
investigative interview for 11 a.m. with Union Steward Cortez and an employee. Walton came
to the facility at 7:30 a.m., saying she was there to represent the employee. Pimental told Walton
8

There is also a settlement from 2009, but it is not clear which management officials were involved.
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she had the meeting scheduled with Cortez later that day and asked if she had permission to be at
the Oak Grove station. When Walton told her Cortez gave her permission to be there, Pimental
asked her to leave because White is the only person, other than herself, who could grant the
requisite permission. Walton refused to leave, became increasingly louder, and called Pimental
stupid. Basarab heard Walton screaming at Pimental so she went to check on them. According
to both Pimental and Basarab, Walton was running toward Pimental aggressively. Pimental
thought Walton was going to attack her. Pimental put her hand up and told Walton to leave the
station or she would call 9-1-1. Walton was yelling so loudly the customer Basarab was
speaking to asked what was going on and asked if she needed to call the police.

10
According to Walton, she did not leave because White had told her to stay at Oak Grove
for the day. She then called White and asked for written permission to leave Oak Grove and go
back to Midway, but Pimental told Walton she would shred whatever White faxed over.
15

Another time, Walton noticed a new clerk was working and told Basarab she needed to
talk with her. Basarab asked Walton to request a time, and she started screaming and cursing,
using very bad language. She got 6 to 8 inches from employee Shelley Lifto’s face. There were
customers in the lobby and Basarab felt embarrassed. She was close to calling 9-1-1 because of
how aggressively Walton was acting. On her way out, Walton smacked the door very hard.

20
During a telephone conversation about a step 1 grievance, Walton yelled at Pimental
when she would not give her an answer right on the spot.
III. DECISION

25
A. Letter of Warning
The complaint, at paragraphs 6 and 7, alleges that the Respondent violated Section
8(a)(3) and (1) when, on September 26, 2011, White issued a written LOW to Walton.
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It is a violation of the Act for an employer to discipline a union steward for “processing
grievances, policing the collective-bargaining agreement or for engaging in other activities as a
union steward.” Pacific Coast Utilities Service, 238 NLRB 599, 606 (1978) (citations omitted.)
A steward, however, does not have unfettered protection to carry out his union duties. Pathe
Laboratories, Inc., 141 NLRB 1290 (1963). Leeway for impulsive behavior when engaging in
protected activity is subject to the employer’s right to maintain order and respect in the
workplace. See Piper Realty Co., 313 NLRB 1289, 1290 (1994); NLRB v. Ben Pekin Co., 452
F.2d 205, 207 (7th Cir. 1991). Accordingly, “activity is [not] protected if carried out in a manner
that is abusive or unjustifiably disruptive of an employer's operations.”9 Nynex Corp., 338
NLRB 659, 661 (2002). Section 7 “does not permit employees to use grievances as a sword to
gain immunity from the consequences of harassment.” Caterpillar Tractor Co., 242 NLRB 523,
530 (1979), citing Rocket Messenger Service, 167 NLRB 252 (1967); Charles Meyers & Co.,
190 NLRB 448 (1971). Moreover, the Board has found that persistent failure to follow a
supervisor’s instructions can remove a steward’s actions from the Act’s protection. Carolina
Freight Carriers Corp., 295 NLRB 1080 fn. 1 (1989); Marico Enterprises, 283 NLRB 726
(1987).
9

It is very clear the word “not” was inadvertently omitted.
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I find Walton lost the Act’s protection by acting in a persistently insubordinate, obstinate,
and disruptive manner designed to harass Babb. In coming to this conclusion, I have made
certain credibility determinations, both general and specific. In general, I found Babb and White
were more credible than Walton, based both on demeanor and the plausibility of their respective
versions of events. I found Babb’s testimony to be thoughtful and sincere, and her demeanor
was open and forthright, even when testifying about topics that were clearly difficult for her
emotionally. White, who supervises both Babb and Walton, struck me as very matter-of-fact and
sincere. Walton’s testimony, particularly when discussing her interactions with Babb, came
across as overly self-serving and orchestrated to downplay the more aggressive and flippant side
of her personality. Specific credibility determination for these witnesses and other witnesses are
discussed in context below.
With regard to the August 9 meeting, Walton’s testimony that it began by Walton asking
for an answer on Smith’s grievance, and Babb repeatedly just saying “this way or that way”
makes no sense. Babb’s explanation, which was thorough and open-ended, put the conversation
into a plausible context. I credit her version, and find Walton’s testimony that she had no idea
what Babb was asking her lacks credibility. Regardless of how Babb and White began arguing,
it is clear to me that Babb left the meeting shaken enough to “make the call.” This was
confirmed by White, who described her as “in a pure panic, in frantic mode” just after the
meeting. Had Walton sat quietly in her chair the entire time as she stated (upon prompting after
she initially said she was standing) it is extremely unlikely Babb would have reacted the way she
did.
Babb’s version of events is also more credible when considering witness testimony from
both union members and supervisors regarding Walton’s tendency to scream and yell, use
disrespectful language, become physically aggressive, and loudly assert her right to do and say
whatever she wants. In this regard, I found Cooper to be a reliable and credible witness, based
both on her calm and straightforward demeanor, the open-ended nature of her testimony, and the
quality of detail in her testimony. For the same reasons, and because their testimony was
generally corroborative, I also found Basarab and Pimental to be reliable witnesses. Mullin, who
I also found credible, testified that he has heard Walton yell and curse from an adjacent room,
and that he was embarrassed because customers could hear. The testimony of these multiple
witnesses more than sufficiently refutes Walton’s uncorroborated statement that she does not
scream in the course of her union duties. (Tr. 63.) Walton’s testimony that she does not run and
could not bang on a door is likewise refuted by testimony from Pimental and Basarab.10
(Tr. 182, 184, 191, 146).
The General Counsel points out that Babb did not call any witnesses to support her
assertion that Walton was screaming during the August 9 meeting, and argues that an adverse
inference is warranted. I note, however, that Walton asserted Babb was screaming both during
the meeting and after the meeting, and in particular that she screamed at clerk Jones, yet neither

10

White further testified that Kelley-Yancey saw Walton banging on the door. This is hearsay that is
corroborated by Babb’s testimony, and consistent with Pimental and Basarab’s. See RC Aluminum
Industries, 343 NLRB 939, 940 (2004). Because I would come to the same conclusion without it, I need
not rely on it.
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the General Counsel nor the Charging Party called any witnesses to corroborate this account. As
noted, between the two versions of events, I credit Babb’s.
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The General Counsel argues that Walton was provoked by Babb stating “this way or that
way” repeatedly, and calling Walton a “fucking bitch.” I have addressed the “this way or that
way” comments above. With regard to the “fucking bitch” comment, I credit Babb’s testimony
that, as a result of her upbringing and beliefs, she does not swear and finds it highly offensive.
I also find that Walton’s response to the alleged comment, either “Now, now Gina that is
uncalled for and I will not accept that,” or “Now, now, Gina, we shouldn’t be talking that way,”
does not ring true. The record establishes that Walton is someone who, when challenged, reacts
impulsively and does not take things quietly. Either version of this measured response upon
being called a “fucking bitch” strains credibility. Given that I have credited Babb’s description
of events, the General Counsel’s argument that Walton was provoked by Babb fails.
The General Counsel notes that the threat assessment team determined that Walton’s
conduct on August 9 was protected. Applying the factors set forth in Atlantic Steel Co., 245
NLRB 814 (1979), the General Counsel asserts that Walton’s conduct on August 9 was not
sufficiently egregious for her to lose the Act’s protection.11 I am aware of and have considered
the Board’s case law, some of which is relied upon in the General Counsel’s brief, holding that
profane outbursts and other such conduct retains the Act’s protection if it is part of the res gestae
of protected activity. I do not consider the August 9 meeting in isolation, however, but rather as
the beginning of a connected and disturbing pattern of conduct Walton directed at Babb.
Turning to the events of September 8, I credit the testimony of Babb, White, and Mullin,
which was generally corroborative. Mullin, a bargaining-unit member, was very soft-spoken
and, though confused at times, appeared to be genuinely trying to recall the events at issue and
testify honestly. As to the specific question of whether Walton had been told White was the step
1 designee for Main Office grievances, I find that she was aware of this when she repeatedly
attempted to speak with Babb. The cooling off period between Babb and Walton was the result
of the threat assessment team’s review of the August 9 events.12 White testified he conveyed this
to Walton. I find Walton’s testimony to the contrary is unconvincing and riddled with problems.
First, White’s failure to convey this to Babb simply makes no sense in light of what occurred,
and there was nothing in his demeanor when he testified to indicate he was being untruthful
about giving Walton this instruction. Importantly, Walton admittedly had already been told, in
line with the CBA, that she was to get permission from the supervisors at both her home office
and the office she was visiting prior to using steward time for grievances. She likewise had been
instructed not to schedule grievances when she was off the clock.

11

I do not find the Atlantic Steel analysis applicable here, because this case does not present an
“outburst” as is contemplated in two of the four evaluative factors. Nor does it involve a “moment of
animal exuberance” as in Milk Wagon Drivers Union of Chicago, Local 753 v. Meadowmoor Dairies, 312
U.S. 287, 293 (1941), but rather a course conduct over time.
12
Babb was part of this team, but even if Walton knew this, it did not give her license to ignore
disregard White’s directives.
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Yet, in contravention of these orders, she visited Babb’s office, without permission, on a
Saturday when she was not working.13 In addition, Babb told Walton during their first brief
phone call that White was the step 1 designee. Yet again, in contravention of this, Walton
continued to call Babb repeatedly and make repeated requests to see her. It is clear Walton did
not care what instructions management had given her because, true to the words ascribed to her,
she was going to do what she wanted. Finally, Walton’s testimony that her continued attempts to
contact Babb were to request steward time pursuant to Mullin’s request has been squarely
discredited by Mullin’s own disinterested, credible, and corroborated testimony that he never
requested a steward.
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The fabrication of Mullins’ request for steward time, along with the continued attempts to
contact Babb, are very telling as to Walton’s state of mind and lead to the conclusions that her
actions by this point were, at best, only “tangentially related” to any legitimate grievance she was
ostensibly pursuing.14 Calmos Combining Co., 184 NLRB 914 (1970). It is clear to me
Walton’s purpose, at least as time progressed, was to harass Babb and it did not matter to her that
she was acting in blatant defiance of White’s orders. The multiple profane and taunting phone
calls to Babb over the course of 45 minutes and the disingenuous attempts to have Babb come
out of her work area to grant steward time that was never requested clearly caused Babb to panic,
as shown by her email to Anderson. (GC Exh. 4.) To me, these actions are strong evidence that
Walton was acting outside the boundaries of genuine steward activity, and was pursuing her own
unprotected agenda. See Roadmaster Corp. v. NLRB, 874 F.2d 448, 453 (1989) (motive relevant
in determining whether employee engaged in protected activity); Newark Morning Ledger, 316
NLRB 1268, 1271 (1995).
The remaining conduct cited in the LOW is Walton’s repeated visits to the main office
without permission while off duty to observe Babb. Walton’s visit to the main office before her
shift on September 11, peering in at Babb, was also cited. Walton asserts she was there in her
role as director of City Stations to investigate whether Babb was performing clerk work. Under
the CBA, permission is required to visit a facility “to investigate a specific problem to determine
whether to file a grievance” and Walton has not refuted testimony and other evidence that
management requires such permission. (Jt. Exhs. 1, 14; GC Exh. 7, p. 2; Tr. 100.) Though
I have found that Walton’s conduct lost the protection of the Act based on previous events, the
continued visits are further evidence of Walton’s intransigence.
The General Counsel argues that, because regional management determined the LOW
failed to establish that Walton engaged in misconduct and her behavior did not rise to the level of
13

The General Counsel’s brief, in the statement of facts, assert that White’s instructions that he would
need to approve her requests for steward time and he would serve as the step 1 designee for the main
office were contrary to the CBA, though none of its arguments rest on contract interpretation. The
Respondent’s brief points to various parts of the CBA and argues they support White’s directives.
Disposition of this case does not depend on an arbitral-like interpretation of the CBA. White received no
permission for her visit on September 8, and had no reason to request steward time from Babb on
Mullin’s behalf. Any ostensible disagreement with management’s directives thus cannot serve as
justification for her behavior.
14
The later focus on needing access to Babb for Mullins’ nonexistent steward request casts doubt on
whether Walton was present at the main office to discuss legitimate grievances in the first place. None
were identified and Babb’s normal practice was to meet with stewards during their regular work hours.
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a threat or violence, it is disingenuous for the Respondent to rely on the conduct cited in it to
defend against the instant charges. I disagree. The Respondent’s regional management is not
charged with interpreting and applying the Act, and therefore their findings are unpersuasive.
Moreover, it is a clear part of the problem internal management had with the LOW was the
charge and the ELM rules alleged to have been violated in support of the charge. I am not
evaluating whether the Respondent can support a misconduct charge governed by the ELM’s
rules. It is also not clear what evidence regional management considered. In any event, I have
considered all of the evidence and carefully evaluated the content and credibility of witness
testimony and, applying the Act and the Board’s interpretive case law to the evidence, find
Walton lost the Act’s protection for the reasons set forth above.
B. The Stalking Order

15

Paragraphs 5 and 8 of the complaint allege that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1)
of the Act when Babb filed for and received a temporary protective stalking order against
Walton.
1. Babb’s status as agent
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To decide whether the Respondent can be held liable for Babb’s actions in petitioning for
and obtaining the stalking order, I must first determine whether Babb acted as an agent of the
Postal Service. The Respondent asserts that Babb pursued the stalking order on her own time
and the Postal Service was uninvolved except for assisting with settlement efforts after the fact.
The General Counsel asserts that the Respondent is liable for the acts of its supervisor because
Babb acted with actual or apparent authority from the Postal Service.
The Board applies the common law of agency to determine whether a supervisor’s
actions are within the scope of employment and thus binding on the employer. Sea Mar
Community Health Centers, 345 NLRB 947, 950 (2005). The burden of proving agency status is
on the party asserting it. Section 2(13) of the Act states that “[i]n determining whether any
person is acting as an ‘agent’ of another person so as to make such other person responsible for
his acts, the question of whether the specific acts performed were actually authorized or
subsequently ratified shall not be controlling.”
The Restatement (Third) of Agency, § 7.07(2), provides: “An employee acts within the
scope of employment when performing work assigned by the employer or engaging in a course
of conduct subject to the employer's control.” Section 7.07 cmt b., elaborates: “If an employee
undertakes a course of work-related conduct for the sole purpose of furthering the employee's
interests or those of a third party, the employee's conduct will often lie beyond the employer's
effective control.” Babb’s conduct of seeking and obtaining the stalking order was not work
assigned by the Respondent. Based on her testimony, I find Babb’s sole purpose in taking these
actions was to further her own interests. Specifically, I am convinced it was an act of
desperation concerned with trying to alleviate her own personal fears.
The General Counsel asserts that by using the Main Office address on the petition for the
stalking order, identifying herself as a supervisor, and attaching documents supplied by the
Respondent, she brought the petition within the scope of employment. Babb supplying the
address and identifying herself as a supervisor, however, was not within the Respondent’s
15
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control, as Babb took these actions without the Postal Service’s knowledge. The General
Counsel has not established that the Respondent was aware of any of the other information she
supplied at the time of the petition. As will be discussed below, by the time she supplied White’s
declaration, I find liability had already attached.
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I find, however, that when Walton was served with the stalking order on October 13, and
Babb enforced it against her at the Main Office, Babb brought the stalking order within the scope
of employment and potential liability for the Respondent attached. This is because, even if the
Respondent did not actually authorize Babb to enforce the stalking order, it is clear that she acted
with the apparent authority to do so. In determining whether an individual has apparent
authority, the Board applies common law principles which it summarized in Mastec Directv, 356
NLRB No. 110, slip op. at pp. 1–2 (2011):
Apparent authority “results from a manifestation by the principal to a third party that
creates a reasonable basis for the latter to believe the principal has authorized the alleged
agent to perform the acts in question.” . . . “Either the principal must intend to cause the
third person to believe the agent is authorized to act for him, or the principal should
realize that his conduct is likely to create such a belief.” [Citations and internal
punctuation omitted.]
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As the General Counsel points out, it is clear that after Babb obtained the stalking order, she
informed the Postal Service about it. Thus, the Respondent knew about the stalking order and
did nothing to prevent Babb from enforcing it. In addition, Babb notified employees about the
stalking order and told them to let her know if Walton came to the Main Office. The employees
who worked under Babb would reasonably believe she had the authority to issue and carry out
this order.15 As such, I find that as of October 13, the Respondent was liable for any unfair labor
practices that arose from the stalking order.
2. Did the stalking order violate the Act?
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Citing to Bill Johnson's Restaurants, Inc. v. NLRB, 461 U.S. 731 (1983), BE&K
Construction (BE&K II), 351 NLRB 451 (2007), and other Board case law, the General Counsel
first asserts that the stalking order violated Section 8(a)(1) because it lacked a reasonable basis
and was filed with a retaliatory motive. Judge Jones granted Babb’s petition and issued the
stalking order, and I therefore find it had a reasonable basis. For the reasons detailed above,
I find Babb’s motivations in seeking it were genuine and not retaliatory. The fact that Babb and
Cortez are able to work together productively to process grievances lends support to the
Respondent’s contention that Babb was not motivated by union animus but rather a desire to
escape from the troubling behavior Walton had been directing at her. The General Counsel
points out that Babb admitted she wanted her “pound of flesh.” While this is true, I do not view
this comment as evidence of retaliatory motivation toward Walton because of her union status or

15

I disagree with the General Counsel’s contention that the restrictions the Respondent had placed on
Babb prior to the stalking order affirmatively reinforced Babb’s conduct. White’s order to Walton not to
contact Babb was much narrower than the stalking order and provided a designee for Babb in the
grievance process.
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protected union activities. Instead, I see it as a secondary emotional response related to the
unprotected actions that frightened Babb.16
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For similar reasons, I do not find Babb had an illegal objective when she filed the
petition. The conduct she cited to support the petition falls outside the Act’s protection.17
Moreover, there is nothing in the petition itself that requests Walton abstain from most of the
behaviors the court ultimately enjoined. As such, this case is distinguishable from Manno
Electric, 321 NLRB 278, 297 (1996). The General Counsel also points to Teamsters Local 776
(Rite Aid), 305 NLRB 832 (1991), but that case involved a lawsuit aimed directly at achieving a
result contrary to the Board’s ruling in the very same matter. The present situation is therefore
not analogous.
The General Counsel further asserts that had the stalking order proceedings not settled,
Oregon law would have required the order’s dismissal because Oregon law is not to be
“construed to permit the issuance of a court's stalking protective order for conduct that is
authorized or protected by the labor laws of this state or of the United States.” O.R.S. §
163.755(1)(a). As I have found Walton’s conduct was unprotected, this argument fails.
Next, the General Counsel asserts that Babb’s stalking petition is preempted by the Act.
The Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, Article VI, Section 2, provides that the
“Constitution, and the Laws of the United States . . . shall be the supreme Law of the Land.”
Thus, as a general rule, Federal laws preempt contrary to or conflicting state laws. Pursuant to
the Supreme Court’s decision in San Diego Building Trades Council v. Garmon, 359 U.S. 236,
244 (1959):

25
When it is clear or may fairly be assumed that the activities which a State purports to
regulate are protected by § 7 of the National Labor Relations Act, or constitute an unfair
labor practice under § 8, due regard for the federal enactment requires that state
jurisdiction must yield.
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Following Garmon, the Court honed its preemption jurisprudence in Sears, Roebuck &
Co. v. Carpenters, 436 U.S. 180 (1978), distinguishing between an employer’s state action aimed
to stop activity the Act arguably prohibits as opposed to a state action aimed to stop activity the
Act arguably protects. In Sears & Roebuck, the employer demanded that the union remove
picketing activity from its property. The union refused to stop picketing, claiming its actions
were protected by Section 7. It did not file an unfair labor practice charge under Section 8(a)(1),
but said instead it would continue the pickets unless compelled to stop through legal action. The
employer responded by filing a trespass action in state court. There, like in the present case, at
the time of the state court action, “the Union failed to invoke the jurisdiction of the Labor Board,
and Sears had no right to invoke that jurisdiction and could not even precipitate its exercise
without resort to self-help.” Id. at 207. (Footnote omitted.) The Court held that in such cases,
where the conduct at issue is “arguably protected” the state court is not deprived of jurisdiction.
16

It is noted that after some reflection and the realization of the harm her actions inflicted on the
Respondent, Babb’s feelings changed.
17
In her petition, Babb did not reference the August 9 incident as the most recent incident or as an
example of “unwanted conduct” but rather as part of the reason the later unwanted conduct was “alarming
or coercive.” (Jt. Exhs. 5, 6.)
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The Court noted, however, that preemption may be appropriate in some cases where there is a
strong argument that the conduct is protected by Section 7 and “the exercise of state jurisdiction
might create a significant risk of misinterpretation of federal law and the consequent prohibition
of protected conduct.” Id. at 203.
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Even though the conduct cited to support the petition was not protected, the stalking
order enjoined Walton from a broader range of conduct.18 The next inquiry, then, is whether the
conduct the stalking order enjoined was “arguably protected” or whether there is a strong
argument the conduct was protected. This determination “is within the exclusive province of the
Board.” Beverly Health & Rehabilitation Services, 336 NLRB 332, 334 (2001). It is clear that
the stalking order enjoined both Walton’s unprotected activity of harassing Babb as well as her
protected activities attendant to her roles with the Union. This finding compels the conclusion
that, at the time the court issued the stalking order, there was a strong argument that some of the
conduct it regulated was protected. In this regard, the instant case bears similarities to
Youngdahl v. Rainfair, Inc., 355 U.S. 131 (1957), where a state court issued an injunction
prohibiting unprotected behaviors connected to a strike as well as the protected conduct of
peaceful picketing. The Court found that the state court “entered the preempted domain” of the
Board by enjoining peaceful picketing. I likewise find that the state court’s temporary protective
stalking order entered the Board’s preempted domain by enjoining Walton from engaging in
protected Section 7 activity.
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

25

1. By maintaining and enforcing the stalking order, the Respondent has engaged in unfair
labor practices affecting commerce within the meaning of Section 8(a)(1) and Section 2(6) and
(7) of the Act.
2. The Respondents did not engage in any other of the unfair labor practices alleged in
this proceeding.
REMEDY

30
Having found that the Respondent has engaged in certain unfair labor practices, I shall
order it to cease and desist therefrom and to take certain affirmative action designed to effectuate
the policies of the Act.
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The Respondent, having maintained and enforced a stalking order that violates the Act,
must cease and desist from maintaining or enforcing a stalking order that enjoins Walton from
engaging in protected activity.
I will order that the employer post a notice in the usual manner, including electronically
to the extent mandated in J. Picini Flooring, 356 NLRB No. 9, slip op. at 5–6 (2010). Also in
accordance with that decision, the question as to whether a particular type of electronic notice is
18

I agree with the General Counsel, however, that the conduct does not meet the standards to render
Walton unfit to serve as the union representative in all contexts. See GC Br. pp. 29–30 and cases cited
therein.
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appropriate should be resolved at the compliance stage. Id., slip op. at p. 3. See, e.g., Teamsters
Local 25, 358 NLRB No. 15 (2012).
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The General Counsel requests reimbursement of legal costs the Charging Party incurred
in defending against the stalking order. Based on the unusual circumstances present in the
instant case, I decline to grant such an award. As previously stated, I have found that the lawsuit
was not unlawful at its inception. This was a novel situation for the Respondent, which faced
significant tension between the legitimate concerns of one of its supervisors and the bounds of a
union agent’s protection under the Act. Accordingly, I find an award of legal fees and expenses
is not necessary to discourage the Respondent from permitting its supervisors to maintain
preempted lawsuits enjoining conduct protected by the Act. I realize this does not make the
Union whole for the fees it paid in defending against the stalking order. In this unusual case,
however, where the Union’s agent’s unprotected activity was the catalyst for the state court
action, I find it is not warranted. An order requiring the Postal Service to cease and desist and to
post a remedial notice, is a “significant sanction” and, given the unique situation present here, is
sufficient. Hoffman Plastic Compounds, Inc. v. NLRB, 535 U.S. 137, 152 (2002); see also J.A.
Croson Co., 359 NLRB No. 2 (2012).
On these findings of fact and conclusions of law and on the entire record, I issue the
following recommended.19
ORDER
The Respondent, United States Postal Service, Portland, Oregon, its officers, agents, and
representatives, shall

25
1. Cease and desist from
(a) Pursuing and enforcing any lawsuit that is preempted by Federal law;
30

(b) In any like or related manner interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees
in the exercise of the rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.
2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to effectuate the policies of the Act.

35

(a) Seek expungement of the Temporary Stalking Protective Order from Cheryl
Walton's record, and notify the Union and Walton that this has been done.
(b) Within 14 days after service by the Region, post at all of its Portland, Oregon
facilities copies of the attached notice marked “Appendix.”20 Copies of the notice, on forms
19

If no exceptions are filed as provided by Sec. 102.46 of the Board’s Rules and Regulations, the
findings, conclusions, and recommended Order shall, as provided in Sec. 102.48 of the Rules, be adopted
by the Board and all objections to them shall be deemed waived for all purposes.
20
If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court of appeals, the words in the notice
reading “Posted by Order of the National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a
Judgment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the National Labor Relations
Board.”

19
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provided by the Regional Director for Region 19, after being signed by the Respondent’s
authorized representative, shall be posted by the Respondent and maintained for 60 consecutive
days in conspicuous places including all places where notices to employees are customarily
posted. In addition to physical posting of paper notices, the notices shall be distributed
electronically, such as by email, posting on an intranet or an internet site, and/or other electronic
means, if the Respondent customarily communicates with its employees by such means.
Reasonable steps shall be taken by the Respondent to ensure that the notices are not altered,
defaced, or covered by any other material. In the event that, during the pendency of these
proceedings, the Respondent has gone out of business or closed the facility involved in these
proceedings, the Respondent shall duplicate and mail, at its own expense, a copy of the notice to
all current employees and former employees employed by the Respondent at any time since
October 13, 2012.
(c) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with the Regional Director a
sworn certification of a responsible official on a form provided by the Region attesting to the
steps that the Respondent has taken to comply.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the complaint is dismissed insofar as it alleges
violations of the Act not specifically found.
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Dated, Washington, D.C. December 4, 2013
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______________________
Eleanor Laws
Administrative Law Judge
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APPENDIX
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
Posted by Order of the
National Labor Relations Board
An Agency of the United States Government
The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated Federal labor law and has
ordered us to post and obey this notice.
FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO
Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on your behalf
Act together with other employees for your benefit and protection
Choose not to engage in any of these protected activities.
WE WILL NOT maintain or enforce lawsuits that interfere with protected Union activities.
WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner restrain or coerce you in the exercise of the rights
guaranteed you by Section 7 of the Act.
WE WILL seek the expungement of the temporary stalking protective order and associated
official records and notify the Union and Walton that this has been done.
UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE
(Employer)
Dated

By
(Representative)

(Title)

The National Labor Relations Board is an independent Federal agency created in 1935 to enforce the
National Labor Relations Act. It conducts secret-ballot elections to determine whether employees want
union representation and it investigates and remedies unfair labor practices by employers and unions. To
find out more about your rights under the Act and how to file a charge or election petition, you may speak
confidentially to any agent with the Board’s Regional Office set forth below. You may also obtain
information from the Board’s website: www.nlrb.gov.
1220 SW THIRD AVENUE, SUITE 605, PORTLAND, OR 97204-3170
(503) 326-3085, Hours: 8 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.
THIS IS AN OFFICIAL NOTICE AND MUST NOT BE DEFACED BY ANYONE
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THIS NOTICE MUST REMAIN POSTED FOR 60 CONSECUTIVE DAYS FROM THE DATE OF POSTING AND MUST NOT BE
ALTERED, DEFACED, OR COVERED BY ANY OTHER MATERIAL. ANY QUESTIONS CONCERNING THIS NOTICE OR
COMPLIANCE WITH ITS PROVISIONS MAY BE DIRECTED TO THE ABOVE REGIONAL OFFICE’S
COMPLIANCE OFFICER, (503) 326-3289.
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